**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court

The Honorable Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 2014-001484

Stephanie Stewart,
Appellant,

v.

**South Carolina Department of Employment & Workforce,
and Oconee County, South Carolina,**
Respondents.

RECEIVED
OCT 27 2014
SC Court of Appeals

**INITIAL APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
OCTOBER 23, 2014**

Stephanie Stewart, appellant
2142 Toccoa Highway
Westminster, South Carolina 29693
stephstewart77@yahoo.com
864-647-2216

Pro-Se

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED AND OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION OR USED THE WRONG STANDARD OF REVIEW TO DENY STEWART'S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PRESENT ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**

- II. **WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT'S REVIEW OF A VARIANT RECORD ON APPEAL VIOLATED STEWARTS' APPELLATE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BECAUSE THE RECORD ON APPEAL WAS NOT SUBMITTED TO OR CONSIDERED BY THE LOWER APPELLATE PANEL, RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**

- III. **WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT AND APPELLATE PANEL ERRED OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER AND ENTER INTO THE HEARING RECORD STEWART'S PLEADING WITH DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE CONTRARY TO S.C. CODE ANN REGS. § 47-52(B)(1) AND SCRCP 103(A)(2) AND DID SUCH RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**

- IV. **WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN UPHOLDING THE APPEAL TRIBUNAL'S ERROR OR ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN SUBMITTING AN INCOMPLETE RECORD ON APPEAL TO THE APPELLATE PANEL, CONTRARY TO S.C. CODE ANN REGS § 47-52(B)(1) AND SCRCP 103(A)(2) AND IN DOING SO, DID SUCH VIOLATE STEWART'S PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS APPEAL RIGHTS, RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**

- V. **WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO STRIKE FROM THE RECORD "STATEMENT OF FACTS" FROM THE RESPONDENT'S FIRST RESPONSE BRIEF NOT PRESENTED TO THE APPEAL TRIBUNAL AND APPELLATE PANEL**

- VI. **WHETHER THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE ON THE WHOLE RECORD ESTABLISHED THE APPELLATE PANEL'S RULING THAT STEWART WAS TERMINATED FOR EMPLOYEE MISCONDUCT OR FOR EMAILING CONCERNS OF RACIAL OVERTONES AND WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT AND AGENCY ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND CONCLUSION OF LAW RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**

- VII. WHETHER AS A MATTER OF AND CONCLUSION OF LAW THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT AND APPELLATE PANEL ERRED IN CONCLUDING STEWART'S ALLEGED MISCONDUCT, MET THE STANDARD OF CAUSE FOR TERMINATION AS DELINEATED IN THE EMPLOYER'S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK POLICY FOR EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE, RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**
- VIII. WHETHER STEWART AS A PUBLIC EMPLOYEE EXERCISING HER FIRST AMENDMENT CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PURSUE A GRIEVANCE, PURSUANT TO THE EMPLOYER'S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK, DISPLAYED MISCONDUCT BY VERBALLY DISAGREEING WITH THE ACCURACY OF THE EMPLOYER'S RECOLLECTION OF FACTS SURROUNDING HER GRIEVANCE AS A MATTER OF LAW? WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THIS ISSUE WAS NOT RAISED TO THE APPELLATE PANEL RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**
- IX. WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT AND APPELLATE PANEL ERRED IN DETERMINING SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE EXISTED TO SUPPORT THE APPELLATE PANEL'S FINDINGS THAT STEWART COMMITTED MISCONDUCT WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN VIEW OF THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE ON THE WHOLE RECORD RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE?**

**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court

The Honorable Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 2014-001484

Stephanie Stewart, :
Appellant, :
v. :
South Carolina Department of Employ- :
ment & Workforce, and Oconee County, :
Respondents. :
_____ :

**INITIAL APPEAL BRIEF OF
APPELLANT**

STATEMENT OF CASE

This matter is before this Court as a result of the Administrative Law Court’s (hereinafter, “ALC”), Judgment entered on June 9, 2014 affirming the decision of the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (hereinafter, “Respondent” or “SCDEW”). The Appellant Panel found Appellant (hereinafter, “Stewart”), was disqualified from unemployment benefits compensation for twenty weeks effective May 9, 2013 through September 21, 2013 with a corresponding monetary reduction upon finding she was discharged for misconduct (AROA 60)¹. The ALC decision affirmed the Appeal Tribunal and Claim Adjudicator’s decisions.

On May 23, 2013, the Claims Adjudicator mailed a decision to Stewart stating that she was discharged from her position with the Oconee County Summary Court as a result of misconduct

¹ As a result of multiple documentary omissions, the Respondent submitted the Record on Appeal to the Administrative Law Court on three separate instances and each Record on Appeal submitted differed: 1) The Initial Record on Appeal, “hereinafter, AROA, was filed on 2/19/14 (AROA 1-201). The Supplemental Amended Record on Appeal, “hereinafter, SROA” was filed on 3/24/14 (SROA 1-12).

for allegedly calling her supervisor “a liar”. Specifically, the Claims Adjudicator determined the separation was a result of improper actions and improper behavior (AROA 60). On May 30, 2013, Stewart filed a timely Notice of Appeal of this determination contending the termination was retaliation for submission of “complaints of racial discrimination”, amongst other cumulative reasons (AROA 2). On August 17, 2013, Stewart submitted a pleading with thirty-one evidentiary exhibits to the Appeal Tribunal in support of her impending defense (AROA 7-34). Stewart’s Appeal Tribunal Hearing commenced on August 20, 2013 before Administrative Hearing Officer Lane K. Cook (hereinafter, “AHO”). During the Tribunal Hearing, Stewart informally moved the AHO to include pleadings with evidentiary exhibits as part of the record and subsequently cross-examined witnesses utilizing such (AROA 168). On August 23, 2013, the AHO mailed his decision that Stewart was discharged for misconduct based on her “acknowledg[ing] ... having told [her supervisor] that what he said about an earlier conversation was inaccurate” (ROA 3-4). Review of Stewart’s pleading, exhibits, and defense by the AHO were excluded from the Record and not submitted to the Appellate Panel as part of the Record. On August 31, 2013, Stewart filed a Notice of Appeal. On October 13, 2013, Stewart received a copy of the Record on Appeal before the Appellate Panel and in-turn on October 18, 2013 submitted a pleading moving the Appellate Panel to include her previously proffered motion and exhibits (AROA 36-39). Stewart renewed her motion on October 22, 2013 during the Appellate Panel Hearing through submission of written arguments and testimony on the Record (AROA 40-59). On October 25, 2013 the Appellate Panel held, “We find credible the testimony of the employer-witness judge particularly since he immediately reported the claimant’s disrespectful comments to the lead court clerk. Therefore, we find the claimant was discharged for misconduct connected with employment” (AROA 149-153).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 11, 2013, the SCDEW submitted the Initial Record on Appeal, (hereinafter, “IROA”). Subsequently, on December 20, 2013, Stewart filed four motions styled: (1) Motion to Compel the Respondent to Correct and Resubmit the Entire Record on Appeal, (2) Motion for Consent to File an Enlarged Initial and Reply Brief, (3) Motion for Enlargement of Time to File Initial and Reply Brief, and (4) Motion to Compel Respondent to Redact Appellant’s Personal

Identification Information from Record on Appeal. On January 6, 2014, the Respondent filed a response in opposition to Stewart's motion to file an enlarged initial and reply brief contending Stewart sought to put forth racial grievance defenses not raised in the lower Appellate Panel. Stewart filed a reply in opposition on January 17, 2014 arguing such enlarged petition was to only present the facts and establish that the racial grievance defense was raised to the lower Appellate Panel. On January 22, 2014, the Respondent filed a Notice of Consent and Motion to Supplement the Record on Appeal and included a Supplemental Record on Appeal as an attachment. On January 31, 2014, Stewart submitted a response in opposition to Respondent's motion arguing the Supplemental Record on Appeal further excluded Appellate Panel Transcripts and evidence submitted during the Appeal Tribunal. On February 4, 2014, the ALC issued an Order directing the Respondent to resubmit the Record on Appeal and all other information not properly included in the original Record on Appeal filed on December 11, 2014. On February 19, 2014, the Respondent filed the Record on Appeal and again excluded Appellate Panel Transcripts, Evidentiary Exhibits before the Appeal Tribunal, and included Stewart's personal social security number in the Record². On March 3, 2014, Stewart filed a motion for sanctions, correction of Record on Appeal, and requested that the briefing deadline be held in abeyance due to an incomplete Record on Appeal filed by the Respondent for the third time. On March 12, 2014, the Respondent filed a response conceding some proffered evidence was missing and refused to provide the Appellate Panel Transcripts, reasoning they were not evidence. On March 17, 2014, Stewart mailed a traverse to the Respondent's reply to her sanctions motion. On March 18, 2014, the judicial clerk of the Honorable Administrative Law Judge Shirley C. Robinson, Ms. Teckla Henderson forwarded an email denying Stewart's Sanction Motion and request for Appellate Panel Transcripts. The email, absent of a signed Order from the Judge, stated that only the Appellant's Motion and Respondent's Response were considered, presumably because the Judge's decision was made prior to receiving Stewart's Traverse. As a result, Stewart filed a Motion for Reconsideration on March 19, 2014 and Ms. Henderson forwarded an email absent a signed Order or Opinion by the ALC Judge, denying Stewart's Motion.

² The ALC's February 4, 2014 Order granted Stewart's Motion to compel the Respondent to redact her social security number from the entire Record on Appeal pursuant to SCALC Rule 36 (B).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

From a reasonable fact finder's perspective, the facts are simple and straightforward. On May 3, 2013, Stewart was involuntarily transferred to a work location for which she was previously reassigned as a remedy for racial animus grievances nearly two years prior. On April 30, 2013, prior to the involuntary transfer, Stewart emailed a grievance to her supervisor Magistrate Judge M. Todd Simmons (hereinafter, "Simmons"), refuting alleged theft accusations by a co-worker Deborah Sheriff (hereinafter "Sheriff") and raised a whistleblower complaint of fraudulent overtime reporting by the subject co-worker. As a result, forty-eight hours later, during an unusual "audio-recorded" closed-door Human Resource Meeting, Simmons with Sheriff directed Stewart to transfer the next business day, back to the office whereby she experienced racial animus. Initially, Stewart declined to transfer back into what she knew to be a racially insensitive and hostile environment. Subsequently, Stewart entered into an agreement with Simmons to exercise administrative leave for the remaining portion of the day to reach a definitive decision by close of business on May 3, 2013. Prior to the close of the meeting, Stewart moved to "personally" converse with Simmons in Sheriff's absence to discuss facts surrounding her grievance. In recollection of facts surrounding her grievance, Stewart queried Simmons on events involving himself and another co-worker Lisa Lee (hereinafter, "Lee") concerning payroll reporting documents and previous complaints of the same nature that supported the validity of her grievance. During the discussion of the subject grievance, Stewart replied to Simmons' non-recollection "that's inaccurate" and he characterized such as calling him a liar. Simmons ended the discussion perceiving to be called "a liar" in a circumstance where Stewart's recollection of facts concerning her grievance differed from his perspective. Immediately thereafter Stewart was directed to depart the office on administrative decision-making leave for the remainder of the day. No discussion of her being terminated was discussed or mentioned by Simmons.

After notifying Simmons of her intent to transfer, Stewart complied with Simmons directives and timely reported to her reassignment on May 6, 2013. After three hours and one day of authorized vacation leave commencing the latter portion of May 6, 2013 through May 7, 2013, Stewart, on May 9, 2013 forwarded a grievance by email, citing the prior history of racial overtones as a basis for documenting her written products within the office. Five hours later Stewart returned from lunch and was subsequently terminated by Simmons for lack of professionalism and

insubordination; allegedly exhibited approximately one week prior, on May 3, 2013. Specifically, Simmons cited the Oconee County Policy and Procedure Manual (hereinafter, “Employee Handbook”) as the basis for Stewart’s termination.

Stewart, from the inception of this case, vehemently denied committing the misconduct as recanted by Simmons and contended her termination was actually retaliation for emailing the racial overtone grievance. As a result of the exclusion of Stewart’s pleading’s from the Record by the Appeal Tribunal and Appellate Panel, marshalling of the facts embedded within the Record is necessary as the recital of the facts by both lower authorities are not accurately recanted in their respective opinions.

Notwithstanding the procedural appellate issue to follow, **Stewart’s question of epic proportion, “Did substantial evidence establish that she was terminated for alleged misconduct or whether substantial documentary and testimonial evidence proves Stewart was actually terminated for emailing a grievance five hours immediately before her termination”?** Stewart submits the facts and documentary evidence within the Record establishes she was in fact terminated for submission of a grievance and Simmons, contrary to his testimony, had no intent to terminate her employment for any alleged misconduct and the evidence in the Record reflects such in a manner synonymous to a “shining star”. The statement of facts are as follows:

1. Stewart, an African-American female, was employed as a Court Clerk within the Oconee County Summary Court Magistrate Department beginning January 10, 2011 through May 9, 2013 and was the only employee of minority descent.
2. Stewart was assigned to the Walhalla, SC office location and the Magistrate Judge Blake A. Norton (hereinafter, “Norton”), was her immediate supervisor. Chief Magistrate Judge Simmons retained managerial authority over all magistrate department personnel.
3. On September 19, 2011, as a remedy to issues of racial animus, among others, Stewart was reassigned to the Seneca location as a member of Simmons’ staff. Stewart performed her duties exemplary with no documented disciplinary issues – resulting in multiple consecutive performance reviews and corresponding merit raises (AROA 97-99).

4. On April 30, 2013, Stewart forwarded an email to Simmons refuting theft accusations by Sheriff and presented a whistleblower complaint regarding Sheriff's reporting of payroll hours. In-turn, **48-hours later, absent any remarkable event**, on May 2, 2013, Simmons directed Stewart and Sheriff to attend a Human Resource Meeting (hereinafter, "HR Meeting"), with himself on May 3, 2013 (AROA 105). Simmons did not disclose the purpose of the HR Meeting to Stewart prior to its commencement. Stewart believed the purpose of the meeting was to address her whistleblower grievance concerning Sheriff (AROA 105 & 191, Ln. 11-21).
5. On May 3, 2013, the HR Meeting between Simmons, Sheriff, and Stewart convened. In an unusual measure, Simmons documented the meeting by way of audio recording (AROA 75 & 107-125). During the meeting, Simmons informed Stewart he decided to reassign her back to the Walhalla location due to workforce demands. In furtherance of documenting the HR meeting, Simmons presented an HR Memorandum dated May 3, 2013 (hereinafter, "May 3rd Pre-HR Memo Meeting Transfer Memo"), addressed to HR Manager Kay Olbon (hereinafter, "Olbon"). The May 3rd Pre-HR Memo Meeting Transfer Memo detailed Simmon's alleged basis for transfer and exclaimed Stewart's "substantial experience and [that she] does a great job". Stewart, flabbergasted, believed the HR Meeting's purpose was to address her grievance and declined Simmon's request to sign the May 3rd Pre-HR Memo Meeting Transfer Memo in disagreement (AROA 123 Ln. 1-9).
6. Due to the prior racial animus issues in Walhalla, Stewart declined to transfer but subsequently entered into an agreement with Simmons to adhere to disciplinary "administrative decision-making leave" the remainder of the workday to reach a definitive decision by the end of the day. During the HR Meeting, on multiple instances Simmons commended Stewart's work performance and repeatedly assured Stewart of his desire to retain her as an employee (AROA 114 Ln. 13-14 and 22-24, 115 Ln. 12-17, 117 Ln. 21, 123 Ln. 11-19 and 124 Ln. 6-9).
7. At the conclusion of the HR Meeting, Stewart requested to speak with Simmons "personally" absent Sheriff's presence to address her grievance concerning Sheriff because

Simmons, contrary to the Oconee County Grievance Policy, did not formally resolve her grievance pursuant to policy.

8. During the discussion, Stewart attempted to discuss with Simmons events surrounding her grievance, which included additional acts by Lee that involved Simmons but addressed Sheriff's actions. Simmons, in response to Stewart's comments, casually commented his non-recollections of events and Stewart casually commented the total non-recollection of their conversation was inaccurate. Simmons interpreted Stewart's statement as calling him a liar. Stewart refuted Simmons' interpretation by stating, "I did not call you a liar, I said what you said can't be accurate" and Simmons directed Stewart to start disciplinary "decision-making administrative leave" as a result (See AROA 142 "Positive Discipline" Examples Oconee County Employee Handbook).
9. Consistent with his pattern of behavior to immediately memorialize events of significance, Simmons prepared an additional HR Memorandum dated, May 3, 2013 (hereinafter, "May 3rd Post HR Transfer Memo") addressed to Olbon. The May 3rd Post HR Transfer Memo documented the course of events for the HR Meeting and was absent any allegations of misconduct or intent to seek Stewart's termination for such as recanted by Simmons (SROA 9).
10. By close of business May 3, 2013, Stewart notified Simmons by cellular phone and text message of her intent to transfer and Simmons informed Stewart she made the right decision and she would see a difference in Walhalla (AROA 159 Ln. 17-25, 161 Ln. 21-26, and SROA 7 -8). Stewart timely reported to Walhalla on May 6, 2013. In-turn, Simmons reported Stewart's absence on May 3, 2013 as "disciplinary decision-making" administrative leave with pay pursuant to the Oconee County Employee Handbook (AROA 145 and SROA 5).
11. On Monday, May 6, 2013, Stewart reported to Walhalla, on time, without incident. Upon reporting, Stewart requested three hours of vacation leave for the afternoon of May 6, 2013 and a full day of leave on May 7, 2013 (AROA 11, 2nd para.). The leave was approved by Norton, concluding a meeting in which he made unprofessional and demeaning comments

to Stewart, within minutes of her first day in Walhalla (AROA 126, 1st para. and AROA 128).

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