THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001484

Stephanie Stewart,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of
Employment and Workforce
and Oconee County, SC,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

E.B. "Trey" McLeod, III, SC Bar #73642
SC Dept. of Employment and Workforce
PO Box 8597
Columbia, SC 29202
Attorney for Respondent SCDEW

Stephanie Stewart
2142 Toccoa Highway
Westminster, SC 29693
Appellant

Reginald Gay
PO Box 447
Greenville, SC 29602
Attorney for Respondent Oconee County

RECEIVED

MAR 03 2015

SC Court of Appeals

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

The record establishes [Appellant] was discharged for disrespectful conduct during a meeting with her superior. In the final incident, the [Appellant] used poor judgment when questioning the truthfulness of the judge's statement to her. We find credible the testimony of the employer-witness...

(R. p. ____.) In this case the Record reveals that witnesses gave conflicting testimony. Where there is a conflict in the evidence, either of different witnesses or of the same witnesses, the findings of fact of the Panel as triers of the fact are conclusive. Holcombe v. Dan River Mills/Woodside Div., 286 S.C. 223, 225, 333 S.E.2d 338, 340 (Ct. App. 1985) Therefore, this Court may not pursue “judicial fact-finding, or the substitution of judicial judgment for agency judgment.” Todd's Ice Cream, Inc., *supra*. In determining whether the Panel's decision is supported by substantial evidence, this Court “need only find that, upon looking at the entire record on appeal, there is evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the Panel reached.” Engaging & Guarding Laurens Cnty.'s Env't (EAGLE) v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 755 S.E.2d 444, 448 (S.C. 2014); *see also* Cross v. Concrete Materials, 236 S.C. 440, 448, 114 S.E.2d 828, 832 (1960)(“[T]he court will affirm a factual finding of the [Panel] if there is [substantial] evidence in the record to sustain it, and reverse only if there is not.”)

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE PANEL WAS CORRECT AS A MATTER OF LAW IN HOLDING THAT ITS FACTUAL FINDINGS SUPPORTED THE CONCLUSION THAT APPELLANT WAS DISCHARGED FOR MISCONDUCT UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 41-35-120(2)(a).

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(2)(a), an individual is ineligible for benefits if the Department finds that he has been discharged “for misconduct connected with the employment.” *Id.* A person found to have been discharged for misconduct is disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits for twenty (20) weeks, with a corresponding reduction in the maximum potential benefit amount. *Id.* The term misconduct is defined by statute to mean:

[C]onduct evincing such willful and wanton disregard of an employer's interests as is found in deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of his employee, or in the carelessness or negligence of such degree or recurrence as to manifest equal culpability, wrongful intent, or evil design, or to show an intentional and substantial disregard of the employer's interest or of the employee's duties and obligations to his employer.

Id. Based on the Panel's findings of facts above, it properly concluded:

[Appellant] deliberately disregarded the standard of behavior the employer had the right to expect. Therefore, we find the [Appellant] was discharged for misconduct connected with the employment.

In affirming the Panel's Decision, the ALC stated:

Here, Appellant's version of events and Employer's version of events are in conflict.

Employer asserts Appellant initially refused a transfer directive and then called Judge Simmons a liar to his face in his courtroom. Appellant maintains she merely stated Judge Simmons's recollection of an alleged event was inaccurate. The Appellate Panel found Judge Simmons was credible. See Milliken & Co. v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n, 321 S.C. 349, 350, 468 S.E.2d 638, 639 (1996) ("[O]n questions of witness credibility we defer to the judgment of the agency."). This Court find the manner in which Appellant addressed Judge Simmons constituted insubordination and a disregard for the standard of behavior Employer had a right to expect from Appellant.

Appellant asserts that her outburst against Simmons at the meeting was merely argumentative and not sufficient to meet the definition of insubordination found in Employer's Handbook and therefore not legally sufficient to be characterized as misconduct under the statute. This argument is without merit. Appellant's behavior at the meeting was clearly sufficient reason to discharge her, and the Panel correctly concluded that her action rose to the level of misconduct as contemplated by S.C Code Ann. § 41-35-120(2)(a). The ALC affirmed the Panel's finding in this regard and held:

Because Appellant engaged in insubordination, which is specifically delineated as an appropriate reason to terminate employment, this Court finds Appellant's argument that her actions were not appropriate grounds

for termination under Employer's policy to be without merit. Additionally, Employer had no obligation under its policy to issue a warning prior to termination.

Furthermore, a reasonable rule encompasses standards of behavior that an employer has a right to expect from an employee. Bandemer v. Department of Employment Security, 204 Ill.App.3d 192, 195, 149 Ill.Dec. 699, 562 N.E.2d 6, 7 (1990). Notably, such a rule need not be written or otherwise formalized. Caterpillar, Inc. v. Department of Employment Security, 313 Ill.App.3d 645, 654, 246 Ill.Dec. 472, 730 N.E.2d 497, 505 (2000). Nor is the employer required to prove the existence of the rule by direct evidence. Greenlaw v. Department of Employment Security, 299 Ill.App.3d 446, 448, 233 Ill.Dec. 532, 701 N.E.2d 175, 177 (1998). The Panel, held “[Appellant] deliberately disregarded the standard of behavior [E]mployer had the right to expect.” (R. p. 151.) The Panel could reach such a conclusion without reference to the Employer’s handbook “through a common sense realization that some behavior intentionally and substantially disregards an employer's interests.” Stovall v. Department of Employment Security, 262 Ill.App.3d 1098, 1102, 203 Ill.Dec. 640, 640 N.E.2d 299, 303 (1994). Calling a judge a liar or in any way insinuating that he is dishonest in his capacity as a judge undoubtedly rises to the level of misconduct. It is a clear violation of the standard of behavior a judge should expect from his or her court clerk. Therefore, no specific prohibition against calling a magistrate judge a liar need be explicitly stated in Employer handbook to qualify as a deliberate disregard of a standard of behavior Employer had a right to expect. See Oxley v. Med. Rock Specialties, Inc., 139 Idaho 476, 480, 80 P.3d 1077, 1081 (2003)(“An employer need only communicate those standards and expectations that do not flow naturally from the employment relationship.”); see also

Nelson v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 801 P.2d 158, 162 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (an employer must provide an “explanation of expected behavior...unless the conduct involved is a ‘flagrant violation of a universal standard of behavior.’”)

III. WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE APPELLATE PANEL DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW REMAND TO TAKE ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE.

Appellant argues that the decision of the Panel is controlled by an error of law because (1) a violation of her substantive and/or procedural due process rights at the administrative hearing level by failure to admit into the Record the written arguments and documents included in her August 17th Motion. (2) The Panel abused its discretion by failing to remand the case back to the Tribunal for the taking of additional evidence for the purpose of rectifying Appellant’s failure to submit the aforementioned written arguments and documents. (3) This Court's review of the current Record in light of the allegations above further violates her due process rights. These arguments are wholly without merit and should be rejected.

Due process requires “(1) adequate notice; (2) adequate opportunity for a hearing; (3) the right to introduce evidence; and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses.” In re Vora, 354 S.C. 590, 595, 582 S.E.2d 413, 416 (2003). To prove the denial of due process, a party must show that it has been substantially prejudiced by the administrative process. Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S. C. Pub. Serv. Commn, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E.2d 695 (1984); However, “[o]ne cannot complain of a due process violation if he has recourse to a constitutionally sufficient administrative procedure but merely declines or fails to take advantage of it.” Zaman v. S.C. State Bd. of Medical Examiners, 305 S.C. 281, 408 S.E.2d 213, 215 (1991)(emphasis added.). Pursuant to S.C.

Regs. 47-51, “All Appeal Tribunal hearings shall be de novo in nature and conducted informally in conformity with the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act.” Id; see also S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330(1)(“Except in proceedings before the Industrial Commission the rules of evidence as applied in civil cases in the court of common pleas shall be followed.”)

PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE TRIBUNAL

The Record shows Appellant did not admit into evidence nor did she proffer her written arguments or any of her thirty-one (31) documents. As a result, they were not considered by the hearing officer nor made part of the Record on review by the Panel. Appellant contends that the hearing officer committed procedural error by failing, *sua sponte*, to admit all of Appellant’s written arguments and thirty-one (31) attached documents. Her assertion is based on the requirement in the regulation that “All issues relevant to the appeal shall be considered and passed upon.” S.C. Regs. 47-51. Appellant’s argument mistakes the term “issues” for the term “evidence.” The “issue(s)” before the hearing officer were whether, “Appellant was discharged from [her] job with [her] most recent bona fide employer for improper action on the job, whether Appellant’s actions were contrary to what an employer has a right to expect, and whether Appellant was therefore discharged for misconduct connected with the employment under the South Carolina code section 41-35-120(2)(a).” (R. p. __.) A review of the Tribunal Decision illustrates that the hearing officer fulfilled this obligation. On the other hand, Appellant, not the hearing officer, had the duty to present her case by introducing her evidence. The hearing officer would have then been required to make a relevancy determination. State v. Jeffcoat, 279 S.C. 167, 303 S.E.2d 855 (1983)(“[hearing officer] is given broad

discretion in ruling on questions concerning the relevancy of evidence...”). Employer would have had the right to raise any objections to such evidence. Concerning offers of “excluded”¹ evidence, SCRE 103 (a) provides that “the substance of the evidence and the specific evidentiary basis supporting admission” must be made known to the finder of fact “by offer or were apparent from the context.” SCRE 103 (a)(2). “The reason for the rule requiring a proffer of excluded evidence is to enable the reviewing court to discern prejudice.” State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 137, 623 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 2005); Thus, any evidence allegedly excluded would require some explanation of the evidence to properly establish an offer of proof for this Court to consider. Here, however Appellant attempted at the hearing and now attempts before this Court to admit evidence by written motion which was and continues to be improper under the APA as well as this Court’s established procedures in a contested case hearing. See ALC Rules

This Court may only review a hearing officer’s evidentiary ruling in light of the evidence actually introduced and/or proffered in the hearing and not such evidence offered before the hearing as is the case at present. See State v. Johnson, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996) (“[A]ppellant...did not raise this issue at any point during trial. Consequently, this issue is not preserved for review.”)

Appellant’s pre-hearing motion can most properly be equated to a motion *in limine*,² however, Department regulations do not provide for the admission of evidence

¹ Using the term excluded suggests that Appellant offered or introduced such evidence. However the Record is clear that Appellant never moved the hearing officer to do so.

² Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pretrial ruling preventing the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 460 S.E.2d 409 (Ct.App.1995). Any *in limine* ruling by a hearing officer and the testimony encapsulated within that proceeding is, in essence, a temporary decision on admissibility. A ruling *in limine* is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 369 S.E.2d 842 (1988). Evidence developed during trial may warrant a change in the *in limine* ruling. See State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 486 S.E.2d 762 (Ct.App.1997). “The final ruling on admissibility of evidence is nexed directly to trial testimony.” State

by pretrial motion. C.f. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 47-51 (“The parties to an appeal, *with the consent* of the Appeal Tribunal, *may stipulate* the facts involved in writing.”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330 (“Objections to evidentiary offers may be made and shall be noted in the record.”). Even if SCORE Rule 103, allows such a motion, failure to obtain a specific ruling either before or during the hearing prevents review of the issue by this Court. See In re Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004) (“An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal. In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it must be raised to *and ruled upon* by the trial court.”)(emphasis added); see also State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001)(Pretrial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary, and is subject to change based on developments at hearing). See United States v. Valenti, 60 F.3d 941 (2d Cir. 1995) (failure to proffer evidence at trial waives any claim of error where the trial judge had stated that he would reserve judgment on the *in limine* motion until he had heard the trial evidence).

With regard to the transcript of the administrative hearing, the Record does not reflect an offer of the written arguments or documents into evidence, an objection to such an offer, or a ruling on the evidence's admissibility. While, Appellant moved to have her written arguments and documents admitted via a pretrial motion, none of this documentation was actually introduced at the hearing. As a consequence, Appellant deprived Employer of its opportunity to object and/or offer rebuttal evidence. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated:

To hold evidence to which reference is made, but which is not offered into evidence, is admissible would severely prejudice the party opposing its introduction by virtually precluding the party from placing the grounds for his objection on the record. Therefore, as the record clearly reflects the

v. Humphries, 346 S.C. 435, 449, 551 S.E.2d 286, 293-94 (Ct. App. 2001) rev'd on other grounds, 354 S.C. 87, 579 S.E.2d 613 (2003)

contested items were never entered into evidence we believe the Court of Appeals erred in holding the [evidence] was admissible.

Roberts v. Roberts, 299 S.C. 315, 319, 384 S.E.2d 719, 722 (1989)

In any event, Appellant's written statements must be excluded as impermissible hearsay. Hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, by other court rule, or by statute. Rule 802, SCRE. Had Appellant properly moved to have the hearing officer make a ruling on the admissibility of her documents, such evidence should have properly been excluded as hearsay. Additionally, allowing Appellant to introduce written arguments would improperly bolster Appellant's testimony.

The determination in this case hinges on the Appellant's credibility, and the written testimony in her motions are cumulative to Appellant's testimony. As our courts have held, where credibility is the ultimate issue in a case, the admission of corroboration evidence that is merely cumulative to the party's testimony is improper. See Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 21, 443 S.E.2d 566, 569 (1994) Because the Appellant's credibility was the ultimate determination to make in deciding Appellant's eligibility for unemployment benefits it would have been error to admit the written testimony.

REVIEW BY THE PANEL

Even assuming, *arguendo*, the Tribunal did err, "[a]n adequate de novo review renders harmless a procedural due process violation based on the insufficiency of the lower administrative body." Unisys Corp. v. S.C. Budget and Control Bd. Div. of General Services Info. Tech. Mgmt. Office, 346 S.C. 158, 174, 551 S.E.2d 263, 272 (2001). The

Panel reviewed the issue regarding any error by the Tribunal in not admitting and/or considering the additional/excluded evidence. Here the Panel reviewed the Tribunal's alleged error in not admitting the evidence. The Panel found:

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